#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAWRENCE FUCHS, etc.,	*	
, ,	*	
Appellant,	*	CASE NO. 96,182
	*	,
V.	*	
	*	
JOEL W. ROBBINS, etc.,	*	
	*	
Appellee.	*	
*********	****	
	*	
THE MIAMI BEACH OCEAN	*	
RESORT, INC.,	*	CASE NO. 96,183
	*	
Appellant,	*	
	*	
V.	*	
	*	
JOEL W. ROBBINS, etc.,	*	
	*	
Appellee.	*	
*****	****	

## AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, THE MIAMI BEACH OCEAN RESORT, INC.

## Kenneth M. Bloom

BLOOM & MINSKER Suite 700, 1401 Brickell Avenue Miami, FL 33131 (305)371-6800

## ARNALDO VÉLEZ, P.A.

255 University Drive Coral Gables, FL 33134 (305)461-9499

#### **

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE**

The Third District's decision declaring §192.042, Fla. Stat. (1993) unconstitutional brings this appeal by the Miami Beach Ocean Resort, Inc. (R, 350-

374).<sup>1</sup> The statute provides:

All property shall be assessed according to its just value as follows:

(1) Real property, on January 1 of each year. Improvements or portions not substantially completed on January 1 shall have no value placed thereon. "Substantially completed" shall mean that the improvement or some self-sufficient unit within it can be used for the purpose for which it was constructed.

In the early 1990's, Miami Beach Ocean Resort acquired and began to completely renovate, improve and refurbish a hotel built in the 1940's. (R, 311). The project was not completed by January 1, 1992, rendering the improvements not substantially complete within the meaning of the statute. (R, 310).

For the tax year 1992, the Dade County Tax Assessor assessed the property at \$6,227,222 (\$2,277,000 for the land and \$3,790,227 for the improvements). (R, 307-

1

The symbol "R" designates references to the record.

308).<sup>2</sup> The hotel sought review of the assessment before the Value Adjustment Board.<sup>3</sup> The Board determined the improvements were not substantially complete reducing the assessment to \$50,000. (R, 308). Disagreeing with this assessment, the Dade County Tax Appraiser filed an action in the Circuit Court pursuant to \$194.036(1), Fla. Stat. (1993) (R, , 1-5, 307)<sup>4</sup> to impose its original assessment. The appraiser asserted the board's assessment as below just value and the action taken by the board on the basis of the substantial completion statute violative of Article VII, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution. (R, 1-5).

The statute however contains a limitation:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For depreciation purposes under the Internal Revenue Code, the Hotel adopted a value of \$10,500,000. (R, 311 ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Value Adjustment Board is created by §194.015. It is empowered under §194.022 to hear petitions relating to assessments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The statute authorizes appeals from board decisions where the Appraiser disagrees with the decision of the board provided that the property appraiser determines and affirmatively asserts in any legal proceeding that there is a specific constitutional or statutory violation, or a specific violation of administrative rule, in the decision of the board.

that nothing herein shall authorize the property appraiser to institute any suit to challenge the validity of any portion of the constitution or of any duly enacted legislative act of this state... (emphasis supplied)

The trial court found the improvements were not substantially complete. However, reasoning that §192.042 establishes a separate standard of value for an entire class in violation of the limitations prescribed by Article VII, Section 4<sup>5</sup> of the Florida Constitution, it ruled the Appraiser's original assessment correct. (See R, 317, 325). The trial Court ordered the hotel to pay the taxes based upon the original

<sup>5</sup> The article provides:

§ 4. Taxation; assessments.

By general law regulations shall be prescribed which shall secure a just valuation of all property for ad valorem taxation, provided:

(a) Agricultural land, land producing high water recharge to Florida's aquifers or land used exclusively for non-commercial recreational purposes may be classified by general law and assessed solely on the basis of character or use.

(b) Pursuant to general law tangible personal property held for sale as stock in trade and livestock may be valued for taxation at a specified percentage of its value, may be classified for tax purposes, or may be exempted from taxation.

(c) All persons entitled to a homestead exemption under Section 6 of this Article shall have their homestead assessed at just value as of January 1 of the year following the effective date of this amendment. This assessment shall change only as provided herein.

1. Assessments subject to this provision shall be changed annually on January 1st of each year...;

2. No assessment shall exceed just value.

assessment with interest at the rate of 12% per annum retroactively from April 1, 1993 and upon its failure to do so within 30 days, the interest increased to 18%. (R, 327-328).

The Third District through a rehearing *en banc* affirmed the action of the trial court specifically holding that the Appraiser had standing to challenge the constitutional validity of § 192.042. (R, 329-334, 350-374).

#### POINTS ON APPEAL

Ι

## IS §192.042(1) AN ENACTMENT VIOLATIVE OF ARTICLE VII, SECTION 4 AND THEREFORE UNCONSTITUTIONAL?

#### Π

### DID THE TAX ASSESSOR HAVE STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE STATUTE?

#### III

### DID THE THIRD DISTRICT ERR IN NOT MAKING ITS FINDING OF UNCONSTITUTIONALITY PROSPECTIVE.

#### IV

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN IMPOSING INTEREST ON THE ASSESSMENT AT 12% AND A PENALTY INTEREST AT THE RATE OF 18% PER ANNUM?

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The prescription of the date, method and timing for assessments is peculiarly within the power given the legislature under Section 4, Article VII to prescribe regulations to secure a just valuation of property. Section 192.042 adopted on such authority constitutes a valid timing mechanism applying equally to all property. Unlike other statutes or regulations that result in identical parcels of property being treated differently, it applies to all property directing the Appraiser, a constitutionally identified but legislatively empowered and directed official, for appraisal purposes to place no value thereon. Its character as an incident of the regulatory process which is constitutionally delegated to the legislature, renders it immune from constitutional attack.

Additionally, the Appraiser, has no legislative or organic empowerment to challenge the constitutionality of the statute. No scholastic subterfuge can conceal the actions of the Appraiser as defensive. The Appraiser chose to ignore the law initially requiring the Taxpayer Hotel to resort to the Value Adjustment Board. When the Board acted lawfully, the Appraiser then chose the route of challenging the constitutionality of the statute in Circuit Court, a route not authorized by the legislation authorizing the Appraiser's use of the Courts or by organic law of long standing. Assuming the validity of § 192.402 questionable, then prospective invalidity of the statute was in order allowing the Hotel, that acted in reliance on the statute, the benefits of the statute for the year in question.

Finally, assuming the invalidity of the statute authorizing the Hotel to be taxed in the form required by the Appraiser, it was improper to impose on the amount due at twelve or eighteen percent.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I

## § 192.042 IS A CONSTITUTIONAL ENACTMENT

The Constitution is the organon, defining the role of the legislature.<sup>6</sup> In taxation, Article VII, Section 4 requires the legislature to prescribe "*By general law regulations ... which shall secure a just valuation of all property for ad valorem taxation*...". The provision is not self executing<sup>7</sup> and no specific procedure to obtain a just valuation is mandated or required; the power allotted is plenary in nature<sup>8</sup> for:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Constitution provides the framework of government. *City of Jacksonville v. Continental Can Co.*, 113 Fla. 168, 151 So. 488, 489 (1933).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The plain meaning of the command to prescribe regulations by general law exposes its nature as non self executing, requiring legislative action to implement its provisions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See *State ex. Rel Atty. Gen v. City of Avon Park*, 108 Fla. 641, 149 So. 409, 416 (1933). More so than in other areas the freedom for classification is

... the legislature's power and discretion in regard to taxation are broad, plenary, unlimited and supreme. All questions as to mode, form, character, or extent of taxation, exemption or nonexemption, apportionment, means of assessment and collection, and all other incidents of the taxing power, are for the legislature to decide. (Emphasis supplied).<sup>9</sup>

The constitutional directive is for the legislature to prescribe the mode, form and means of assessments to arrive at a "just valuation" or "just value".

Through notions derived from judicial legislation<sup>10</sup> it is popularly felt<sup>11</sup> that "fair market value" is the entire dimension of "just valuation".<sup>12</sup> But, the term "just valuation" has greater occupancy.<sup>13</sup> Despite opportunity to so do, the People have not

<sup>10</sup> Oliver Wendell Holmes observed "judges do and must legislate, but they can do only interstitially, they are confined from molar to molecular motions". *Southern Pacific Co. v. Jensen*, 244 U. S. 205, 218, 221 (1919).

<sup>11</sup> This popular view permeated the Third District's decision.

extensive. *Markham v. Yankee Clipper Hotel, Inc.*, 427 So. 2d 383, 385 (Fla. 4th DCA, 1983) review denied, 434 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1983).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>*Miller v. Higgs*, 468 So.2d 371, 375 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1985), review denied, 479 So.2d 117 (Fla. 1985), <u>overruled on other grounds</u>, *Capital City County Club v. Tucker*, 613 So. 2d 448 (Fla. 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See *Valencia Center v. Bystrom*, 543 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 1989); and *Walter v. Schuler*, 176 So. 2d 81 (Fla. 1965). Decortication of these cases to yield the source of their authority exposes the broad sweep allotted the legislature to include in the fold such concepts as "highest and best use" and the factors set out in §193.011, Fla. Stat. (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> For example, Section 199.032, Fla. Stat. (1997) prescribes an annual tax of one mill on the dollar of the "just valuation of all intangible personal property" and

substituted "fair market value" as the polestar in the Constitution; the remaining terminology is identical to its first appearance in the 1868 Constitution<sup>14</sup> requiring the legislative prerogative to the enactment of a regulatory scheme for arrival at a "just value", a broader concept, capable of legislative definition to be fine tuned by the objectives of fairness and common sense.

At hand, a date for the assessment and a methodology and procedure are required. The chosen date is January 1<sup>15</sup> - the regulation on how to go about doing it is contained in § 192.402 and §193.011, with §192.402 recognized by this Court as a "specific statutory scheme for the timing of the valuation and assessment".<sup>16</sup> Indeed,

Additionally, Justice Pariente's invitation in Collier County to those

a nonrecurring tax of 2 mills on the dollar of the "just valuation of all notes, bonds and other obligations for payment." That the term "just valuation" in the context of this legislation could not be equivalent to "fair market value" evidences the concept of "just valuation" to be of greater magnitude.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See Article XII, § 1, Fla. Const. (1868). Nonetheless, both the 1885 Constitution and the 1968 Constitution mandate a "just valuation" for all property. Compare, Article IX, § 1, Fla. Const. (1885), with Article VII, § 4, Fla. Const. (1968).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Historically, a yearly tax is implied and January 1 has been legislatively chosen. <u>See, e.g.</u>, Ch. 4322, §§ 3, 68, Laws of Fla. (1895). <u>See</u>, Ch. 5596, § 3, Laws of Fla. (1907), (which is the forerunner of present day § 192.053, Fla. Stat.), wherein the Legislature set a date that a lien on the property shall attach.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The principle, stated in *Collier County v. State*, 733 So. 2d 1012 at 1019 (Fla. 1999), was not light, nor as the Third District hinted, the product of an incidental reference. It was deliberate and freighted with respect for the orbit given the legislature.

on two occasions this Court has observed that the statute constitutes only a temporary postponement of valuation and assessment of incomplete improvements.<sup>17</sup> The latest articulation, the Collier County case, reiterates this.

Some may press loss of revenue as an apt argument but this does not answer to reality. First, under § 200.011 and 200.065, Fla. Stat. (1997) local county bodies quantify the dollar needs specifying a budget. A millage rate is applied to the aggregate taxable value of all properties in the ad valorem tax base to produce revenue.<sup>18</sup> Property that is not substantially complete as of January 1 is not included in this tax base. However, the budget remains the same with tribute required on a *pari passu* basis on the tax roll resulting from the authorized and directed legislative regulation. **Revenue is not lost.** While it is true that the revenue requirement is then distributed over taxpayers whose property was appraised as complete and that the statute may provide a temporary windfall shielding some property, these are but arguments of fairness with no play in light of Justice Pariente's observation:

<sup>18</sup> See § 200.069, Fla. Stat. (1997).

considering the statute unfair to "have able and competent legislators" change it, empirically accepts the legislative ability for its enactment. If the rain checks alluded to by the Third District are not favored, the democratic solution is to have responsible legislators effect the change; the folly or wisdom of a statute differing from the rules of sporting events is not a check for its constitutionality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See *Collier County*, supra at 1019 and *Culbertson v. Seacoast Towers East, Inc.*, 212 So. 2d 646, 647 (Fla. 1968).

There is no ambiguity in the statute. It appears that any benefit to taxpayers was specifically contemplated by the legislative scheme.

#### \*\*\*\*\*

If there is a windfall created by the current statutory scheme, as the county claims, the County's redress lies with the Legislature.<sup>19</sup>

The statute is equal, applying to all property as of January 1.<sup>20</sup> It regulates the Appraiser directing improvements not substantially complete to have no value. The debate is interminable - some may say that in fairness the formula must require unfinished structures to pay something, others say it is not fair to treat the inert unfinished status as enjoying all perquisites afforded by government on January 1. Through exercise of the constitutional mandate to regulate, the debate is ended. The legislative finding<sup>21</sup> is that it is only *just* to place no value on the uncompleted and

Additionally, the public policy determination inherent in the statute is of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Collier County*, 733 So. 2d at 1019.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> While *Yankee Clipper* and *Culbertson* refer to the statute as creating a "classification", aught appears to indicate the term as one of art in the context of such cases. It is therefore unwise to proceed with the untested hypothesis that prior decisions have forever branded the statute as one creating a separate classification proscribed by Art. VII, § 4 and that it may not be considered as a reasonable regulation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Legislative findings and observations when rational must be upheld. *City of Tampa v. State ex. Rel. Evans*, 155 Fla. 177, 19 So. 2d 697 (1944). Inquiry on the issue is limited to whether any state of facts, either known or assumed, afford support for the challenged statute. See e.g. *State v. Bales*, 343 So. 2d 9, 11 (Fla. 1977); *State ex. Rel. Adams v. Lee*, 122 Fla. 639, 166 So. 249, 254 (1955), affirmed on rehearing, 122 Fla. 670, 166 So. 262 (1936), cert. denied, 299 U.S. 542, 57 S. Ct. 15 (1936).

unfit improvements for a particular year, a result concomitant with the reign of Article VII, Section 4 to regulate and secure "a just valuation".<sup>22</sup> Succinctly, no value is a "just valuation" responsibly defined by the legislature for revenue raising purposes.<sup>23</sup>

The contours for the adoption of §192.402 do not differ from those used in adopting other regulations that are only operable in specific circumstances.<sup>24</sup> The statute is but another method of carrying out the just valuation mandate.<sup>25</sup>

<sup>23</sup> We emphasize the statute does not state the improvements are worthless for market value purposes. Rather, the focus is on the just value for revenue purposes on improvements that cannot be used for the purposes for which they were intended.

peculiar province to the legislature. *State v. Hodges*, 506 So. 2d 437 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1987) rev. denied., 515 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> The definition of the components of this term of art derive from the "process of assessing or fixing the value of a thing", that has "reasonable or adequate grounds" or is "equitable". Oxford English Dictionary, 2d Edition, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1989 Edition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Compare § 193.015, Fla. Stat. (1997) involving property for which dredge and fill permits have been issued, § 193.075, Fla. Stat. (1997) involving mobile homes and see *Oyster Pointe Resort Condominium, Assoc., Inc. v. Nolte*, 524 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1988) (involving statute prescribing method to assess time share developments); *Miller v. Higgs*, 468 So. 2d 371 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1985) (involving statute reclassifying leasehold interests in government owned land as intangible personal property instead of real property).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Hausman v. Bayrock, Inv. Co., 530 So. 2d 938, 940 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1988).

The validity of a textually similar statute<sup>26</sup> was upheld by this Court in *Culbertson v. Seacoast Towers East, Inc.*, 212 So. 2d 646 (Fla. 1968). Additionally, the decline to review the Fourth District's review of the present statute in *Markham v. Yankee Clipper Hotel, Inc.*, 427 So. 2d 383 (1983), rev. denied 434 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1983) in which the Court expressly noted the statute as constitutional<sup>27</sup> bolsters the belief that the statute is immune from attack. The source for the authority remains the enactment of a regulation for a "just valuation".

Neither the revision of the Constitution in 1968, the adoption of Article VII, § 4, nor *Interlachen Estates v. Snyder*, 304 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 1973) limit the legislature's ability to regulate. While the timing of the assessment and the attendant methodology regulated by § 192.042, may, to some, seem to create a separate classification with substantive rights, an equally available view displays its character as a timing regulation adopted to achieve a "just valuation".<sup>28</sup> This view cures the statute of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> The statute, Section 193.11(4), Fla. Stat. (1967), provided "all taxable lands upon which active construction of improvements are not substantially completed on January 1, of any year shall be assessed for such year as unimproved lands.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> The *Yankee Clipper* decision is criticized for its reference and reliance on *Lennhausen v. Lake Shore Auto Parts Co.*, 410 U.S. 356, 93 S. Ct. 1001 (1973). The criticism is unwarranted as the reference is to that rationale of the case recognizing the wide constitutional latitude afforded the legislature in the enactment of tax laws.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> The Third District conceded its character as a timing and substantive regulation.

constitutional infirmities on the obligation to give statutes a construction upholding them when a reasonable basis <sup>29</sup> or theory<sup>30</sup> exist for doing so.<sup>31</sup>

Finally, the appraiser's attempted craft at irony with the Hotel's ten million plus attribution for federal income tax purposes, against the request for no value pursuant to §192.042, fails because it ignores the different vectors inherent in revenue raising laws.<sup>32</sup> Assuredly, it is unwise to define results, bookkeeping events or reporting

<sup>30</sup> Adams v. Miami Beach Hotel Assoc., 77 So. 2d 465, (Fla. 1955); Pinellas County v. Laumer, 94 So. 2d 837 (Fla. 1957); Rabbin v. Conner, 174 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 1965).

<sup>31</sup> Invalidation of the statute requires a showing beyond a reasonable doubt that it is in conflict with the constitution. *Metropolitan Dade County v. Bridges*, 402 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 1981); *A.B.A. Industries, Inc. v. City of Pinellas Park*, 366 So. 2d 761 (Fla. 1979). The responsible and justifiable definition as a needed timing regulation places the statute on a footing immune from such showing.

<sup>32</sup> Was it not Learned Hand who complained of the Internal Revenue Code, stating its words:

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