IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

LAWRENCE FUCHS, et al.

Appellant,

v. : CASE NO. 96,182

JOEL W. ROBBINS, et al.,

Appellee.

THE MIAMI BEACH OCEAN RESORT, INC.,

Appellant,

v. : CASE NO. 96,183

JOEL W. ROBBINS, et al.,

Appellee.

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE JOEL W. ROBBINS, THE DADE COUNTY PROPERTY APPRAISER

ROBERT A. GINSBURG Miami-Dade County Attorney Stephen P. Clark Center Suite 2810 111 N.W. 1st Street Miami, Florida 33128-1993 Tel: (305) 375-5151

Fax: (305) 375-5634

By

Jay W. Williams Assistant County Attorney Florida Bar No. 379107

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

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

This Court simply could not find a compelling rationale for the fact that Pope's Law attempted to value property at least ten months after the legal assessment date of January 1st. *Id.*, at 1028. Under the Substantial Completion Statute, the valuation of the Taxpayer's Building would not occur until at least *one full year* after the legal assessment valuation date of January 1, 1992, and even then the Building would be assessed *only* for the 1993 tax year, escaping taxation completely for 1992. If the legislature cannot constitutionally delay valuation for ten months, it should not be able to constitutionally delay valuation forever. Yet

this is exactly the result that obtains from application of the Statute to the Building in this case. Accordingly, the application of the Statute is unconstitutional.⁷

D. Seacoast is No Longer Controlling Precedent as to the Statute's Constitutionality.

It is true that this Court upheld the constitutionality of a statute similar to the instant Statute in *Culbertson v. Seacoast Towers East, Inc.*, 212 So. 2d 646 (Fla. 1968). The trial court found, however, and the Third District Court affirmed, that *Seacoast* is no longer applicable precedent because of the changes made to the taxation section in the Constitution of 1968. *Interlachen; Valencia Center*. Appellants nevertheless continue to argue that the 1968 amendment to the Constitution does not alter the *Seacoast* holding.

Pope's Law, similar to the Statute at issue in the instant case, did not treat identical properties differently based on factors extrensic to the property. Pope's law was nevertheless unconstitutional because, just like the Substantial Completion Statute, it delayed the valuation of property beyond January 1 of the tax year, and did not result in an assessment at fair market value. *ITT Community*. At least under Pope's law, the property would be *taxed* for the year in question; it would merely be *assessed* at a date different from other properties. Conversely, under the Statute at issue, the Building will *never* be taxed for the year in question. Moreover, although it is unconstitutional, it is certain that the application of Pope's law in the instant case would have yielded an assessment far closer to fair market value than would application of the Substantial Completion Statute.

Seacoast held that, under the Constitution of 1885, the legislature had authority to create separate *classifications* of property for assessment purposes, including the authority to classify non-substantially complete properties as property which should not be valued or assessed. Seacoast, at 647. Although the Seacoast opinion stated that the version of the Substantial Completion Statute there at issue constituted only a "temporary postponement of valuation and assessment of incomplete improvements on real property", the statement was obiter dictum. Not only was the statement incorrect in that the assessment was not postponed for the tax year in question but was rather eliminated entirely, the statement was not necessary to the Court's decision. The core holding of the *Seacoast* decision was actually set forth in the next sentence of the decision, where the Court found that the statute was constitutional because, "The requirement is simply that the *separate* classification of such property shall bear some reasonable relationship to the legislative power to prescribe regulations to secure a just evaluation of property". Id. The term "such property" as used in the sentence can only pertain to the "incomplete improvements" referenced in the preceding sentence of Seacoast. Thus, it is clear that the *Seacoast* court considered the "postponement of valuation" and assessment of incomplete improvements" to constitute a separate classification Such separate classifications are now unconstitutional. of property. Id. Interlachen; Valencia Center.

In *Interlachen*, this Court reversed the core holding of *Seacoast*, based upon the new language of the Constitution of 1968. "Under the 1885 Constitution we had held that the legislature could tax different classes of property on different

bases, as long as the classification was reasonable. [This is the exact standard set forth in *Seacoast* at 647]. *Lanier v. Overstreet*, 175 So. 2d 521 (Fla. 1965). The people of this State, however, by enumerating in their *new* Constitution which classifications they want, have removed from the legislature the power to make others." *Interlachen*, at 434. *See also Valencia Center*, 543 So. 2d at 216; and *Williams v. Jones*, 326 So. 2d 425, 430 (Fla. 1975) (the limitation imposed in Article VII, section 4 of the Constitution of 1968 was clearly intended to be a check upon the legislature so as to prohibit it from classifying property for ad valorem taxation in such a manner as to result in a valuation of any class of property at less than just value).

To avoid this inherent conflict between the holding in *Seacoast* and the subsequent holdings of the Supreme Court in *Interlachen, Valencia Center*, and *Williams v. Jones*, Appellants argue that the Substantial Completion Statute does *not* create a classification. In so arguing, the Appellants effectively eliminate the core holding and rationale of the *Seacoast* decision which they rely on to support the constitutionality of the Statute -- namely, that the Statute constituted a reasonable *classification* of "such property" (i.e., incomplete improvements). Appellants are caught in a classic "Catch 22". They do not and cannot explain how or why they can disagree with *Seacoast*'s clear conclusion that "incomplete improvements" constitute a *separate classification* of property for taxation, while simultaneously relying on *Seacoast* as persuasive precedent to overturn the

Decision of the Third District Court below.8

Further, as succinctly stated by the Third District Court in the Decision below:

It is important to know and understand that the supreme court in *Interlachen* specifically held that the legal logic of *Lanier v. Overstreet*, referenced in the above quote [from *Interlachen*], was displaced by the new constitution. It is equally important to know and understand that *Lanier v. Overstreet* had relied on *L. Maxcy's* logic, thus *Interlachen* also clearly displaced *L. Maxcy*. And because the *Seacoast* decision . . . was bottomed on *L. Maxcy*, then *Seacoast was also clearly displaced by Interlachen*. The owner's reliance on *Seacoast* and its outdated logic is erroneous.

Decision, at 347.9

As set forth in part I.A. of this Brief, *supra*, the *L. Maxcy* decision's express finding that the legislature may constitutionally command an appraiser to ignore improvements that add to the "sales value" of land is also hopelessly outdated in light of this Court's modern pronouncements equating "just value" to the willing buyer - willing seller concept. Accordingly, *Seacoast*, being based on *L. Maxcy*, is no longer controlling precedent as to the Statute's constitutionality, and the *en banc* Decision of the Third District Court must be affirmed.

-

A further problem with the Appellants' reliance on *Seacoast* is that the *Seacoast* decision *expressly* states that factors analogous to those of the substantial completion classification had in "numerous instances" been made the basis for *special statutory treatment*. *Seacoast*, at 647. Under this Court's decision in *Interlachen*, however, it is now inappropriate for the legislature to manipulate assessment standards and criteria to favor certain taxpayers over others. *Interlachen*, at 435.

By extension, Appellants' reliance on *Markham v. Yankee Clipper Hotel*, 427 So. 2d 383 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) and *Hausman v. Bayrock Inv. Co.*, 530 So. 2d 938 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) is also erroneous, because both of those cases followed *Seacoast* as controlling precedent. See Decision below, at 346-347, n. 20.

E. If the Statute Does Not Create a Classification, Then It Creates An Unconstitutional System of Undervaluation of Certain Properties in the Same Class As Others Not so Undervalued.

Even if it were somehow constitutional to value property at a date remote in time from January 1st of the tax year, and even if the Substantial Completion Statute did not create an unconstitutional classification of property for tax assessment purposes, the Statute would still not pass constitutional muster. If it is assumed, arguendo, that non-substantially completed buildings are **not** a separate class of property for tax assessment purposes (as Appellants insist), but instead are merely a part of the larger class of "improvements to property" or "property" in general, then the Statute would still be unconstitutional because, "Intentional systematic undervaluation by state officials of other taxable property *in the same class* contravenes the constitutional rights of one taxed upon the full value of his property". Allegheny Pittsburgh Coal Co. v. County Commissioner, 488 U.S. 336, 109 S. Ct. 633, 639, 102 L. Ed. 2d. 688 (1989), cited in Ozier v. Seminole County Property Appraiser, 585 So. 2d 357,359 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). The Substantial Completion Statute *compels* the intentional systematic undervaluation of nonsubstantially complete properties that have market value, such as the Building at issue in the instant case, thus contravening the rights of those in the "class" who own completed property.

The Third District Court's decision in *Florida Rock Industries, Inc. v. Bystrom*, 485 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) confirms this analysis. In *Florida Rock*, the Third District Court approved the trial court's conclusion that:

[Where property] is not specially classified land,

the State Constitution requires the property to be assessed at fair market value and *precludes* it from being assessed solely on the basis of *character* or use. *Neither the Property Appraiser nor this Court is free to deviate from this Constitutional standard or to reject the compelling evidence that the property has present value.*

Id., at 446.

Here, Appellants argue that the subject Building is *not* specially classified land. If that is true, Appellants have not provided a compelling explanation for why this Court should deviate from its own expression of the Constitutional standard for determining just value (i.e., fair market value), or for why this Court should reject the uncontroverted finding that the Building had a present value of \$3,790,277.

Interlachen is also instructive on this point. The statute at issue in *Interlachen* provided that platted land unsold as lots should be valued for tax assessment purposes on the same basis as unplatted acreage of similar character until 60% of the lands included in one plat were sold as individual lots. *Interlachen*, at 434.¹⁰

The Supreme Court in *Interlachen* held the statute to be unconstitutional because it created a classification of property to be valued on a different standard than all other properties, in violation of Article VII, section 4 of the 1968 Constitution. This Court went on to say, however, that even "if the statute applied"

16

This statute, found unconstitutional in *Interlachen*, was cited by the Court in *Lanier v. Overstreet*, along with the *L. Maxcy* "non-bearing fruit trees" statute, as "another legislative directive providing a practical guide to tax assessors to assure that the land will be assessed in accordance with its actual *character*. . . ." *Lanier v. Overstreet*, 175 So. 2d at 524. This is but a further demonstration that the logic of *L. Maxcy*, relied on by *Seacoast*, is no longer viable. See parts I.A. and I.D., *supra*.

to all properties and could be considered as merely establishing one criterion for determining value it would still not survive because it is so unreasonable and arbitrary." *Interlachen*, at 435. The Court in *Interlachen* noted that, while it is true that at some point in the development of most subdivisions the character of the land changes and the lots increase in value, the change may not occur until long after all the lots have been sold by the developers. Moreover, any change in the value of the lots in a subdivision could be measured by the same criteria used for other lots, including those criteria listed in Florida Statute section 193.011. *Id.* Similarly, while it is true that the value of a building is affected by the state of its completion, the value of an incomplete building can be measured by the same criteria used for other real property, including those criteria listed in Florida Statute 193.011. To automatically require valuation of such properties at zero value, particularly one with market value in excess of three million dollars, is even more arbitrary and unreasonable than the 60% rule invalidated by this Court in *Interlachen*. Thus, the Decision below must be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY ALLOWED THE PROPERTY APPRAISER TO CHALLENGE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE STATUTE.

A. Taxpayer Waived Its Argument That Appraiser Had No Standing, And the Constitutional Issue Was Tried By Implied Consent.

The issue of standing must be raised as an affirmative defense before the trial

court. *Krivanek v. Take Back Tampa Political Committee*, 625 So. 2d 840, 842 (Fla. 1993). The failure to raise standing as an affirmative defense constitutes a waiver of that defense. *Id.*; *see also* Rule 1.140(h)(1), Fla. R. Civ. P. (a party waives all defenses that the party does not present either by motion or in a responsive pleading).

In the case *sub judice*, Taxpayer did not raise the issue of Appraiser's standing in a motion, as an affirmative defense in its responsive pleading, or even at the trial on the merits. Further, the trial court specifically found that the constitutional issue was tried by implied consent. Accordingly, Taxpayer has waived any argument it may have had that Appraiser did not have standing to raise the constitutional issue here involved. An affirmative defense is waived and may not be argued unless it is pled as an affirmative defense or unless it is tried by implied consent of the parties. *Miami Electronic Center v. Saporta*, 597 So. 2d 903, 904 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); *Bradford Builders v. Dept. of Water and Sewer*, 142 So. 2d 137, 138 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962).

In the instant case, the issue of standing was neither raised as an affirmative defense nor tried by implied consent, and thus the issue was waived. Conversely, the issue of the Substantial Completion Statute's constitutionality was expressly found by the trial court to have been tried by implied consent, without objection from Taxpayer, and thus was preserved for review. Taxpayer, however, failed to preserve its right to object to any error at the trial court based upon standing. *See*, *e.g.*, *Baker v. Baker*, 394 So. 2d 465, 466 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) (appellate review of matters not objected to, or expressly acquiesced in, is foreclosed). Accordingly,

there is no need to even address the "standing" issue, let alone reverse the Third District Court's decision on that ground.¹¹

B. Turner v. Hillsborough County Aviation Authority is Wrongly Decided and is Not Dispositive of the Standing Issue in the Instant Case.

Appellants standing arguments rely heavily on the Second District Court's recent decision in *Turner v. Hillsborough County Aviation Authority*, 739 So.2d 175 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999). This case expressly conflicts with the Third District Court's conclusion that the Appraiser had standing to challenge the Statute's constitutionality. *Turner* is not dispositive of the standing issue in the instant case for at least three reasons.

1. Turner does not address the issue of waiver or trial by implied consent.

As set forth immediately above, the constitutionality of the Statute was tried by implied consent and no objection was made to Appraiser's standing. Because *Turner* does not address these factors, it does not change the law that precludes appellate review of matters not raised at trial or those in which appellant acquiesced. It is therefore inapplicable to the facts before this Court.

2. Turner construes the statutory law incorrectly; § 194.036(1)(a) prohibits only pure declaratory actions and must be read *in pari materia* with related provisions.

The *Turner* decision recognized that section 194.036(1)(a) of the Florida

19

It is clear that any alleged lack of standing on the Appraiser's part is not jurisdictional or so fundamental that an objection based on standing cannot be waived. Numerous cases in Florida have considered the Constitutionality of tax statutes where the issue was raised by a property appraiser, either as plaintiff or defendant. See, e.g., Valencia Center, Interlachen, Seacoast, Yankee Clipper, and ITT Development.

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